
 
 

PLANNING, REGULATORY AND 
LICENSING 

 
5.00 PM WEDNESDAY, 9TH FEBRUARY, 2022 

 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

 
Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  

  
This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 

 
All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to being filmed 
and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings being used as outlined above. 

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the  

Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 
contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 

 
Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 

on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
 
 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

Planning Applications  -  Recommendations under the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning and Compensation Act 
1991 

3. P/21/0244 - 3 Chestnut Way, Gurnos, Merthyr 
Tydfil  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Executive 
 

5 - 14 

4. P/21/0144 - 78 Heol Rhyd-y-Bedd, Pant, Merthyr 
Tydfil  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Executive 
 

15 - 22 

5. P/21/0416 - Land at Springfield Rise, Treharris, 
Merthyr Tydfil  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Executive 
 

23 - 38 

6. P/21/0424 - Stephens & George Ltd, Goat Mill 
Road, Dowlais, Merthyr Tydfil  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Executive 
 

39 - 46 

Information Reports 

7. Delegated Decision Report   

 To receive report of the Chief Executive 
 

47 - 60 

8. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair   

 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 

COMPOSITION: Councillors  C Tovey (Chair)  
                    M Colbran (Vice-Chair) 

  
 Councillors:  D Chaplin, E Galsworthy, K Gibbs, 

C T Jones, G Lewis, L Mytton, D Sammon, J Thomas 
and S Thomas 
 

 together with appropriate officers 
  

 
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

 
 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

DATE WRITTEN 1st February 2022 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Caroline Pulley 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 9th February 2022 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 

P/21/0244 18th August 2021 MTCBC 

   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 

   

Change of use of existing retail 

unit to A3 restaurant 

3 Chestnut Way 

Gurnos 

Merthyr Tydfil 

CF47 9SB 

 

Mrs Minakshi Gupta  

c/o Mr J Payne 

Cwmffynnon Cottage 

Twyn College 

Newbridge 

NP11 3NR    

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Councillor Jeremy Davies has requested this application be reported to committee in 
order to consider the parking concerns raised by local residents.   
 
APPLICATION SITE 
 

The application site relates to a vacant retail unit situated within the local retail centre 
of the Gurnos.  The premise is bound by a pharmacy to the left and a takeaway to the 
right.  There is a small communal service yard to the rear of the building and a 
communal car park to the front, which provides 24 car parking spaces.  The wider area 
is predominantly residential in nature with neighbouring properties being located to the 
south and north-east of the site.       
 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 

This application seeks planning permission to change the use of a shop to a restaurant 
falling within use class A3 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987.  To facilitate the change of use, the shop floor, which is located to the front half 
of the premise, would be subdivided to provide a seating area (with a seating capacity 
for 10 people) and a food preparation area.  The two storage rooms located to the rear 
of the premise would remain unchanged.  The restaurant would operate seven days a 
week between the hours of 10am and 11pm and would employ four full time staff and 
four part time staff.   
 

The submitted plans indicate that the proposed use would involve the installation of a 
0.7m high, 0.3m wide extraction flue.   The flue would largely be installed internally 
within the building, travelling up from the food preparation area and exiting the building 
through the northern side roof plane.  
 

PLANNING HISTORY 
 

The most recent history relating to the property is as follows:  
 
P/12/0349   Retention of adverts on ATM within front elevation of shop  
    APPROVED – 28.01.2013 
 
P/12/0348   Retention of ATM within front elevation of shop 
    APPROVED – 28.01.2013 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Head of Engineering:    No objection.  
 
Environmental Health Manager:   No objection, subject to a condition  

requiring specification details for the 
proposed extraction system to be 
provided.   
 

Welsh Water:      No objection, subject to conditions 
relating  

to the disposal of surface water and 
provision of a grease trap.   

 

Page 6



PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to the adjoining properties and two 
site notices were displayed within the vicinity of the site.   
 
As a result of the publicity exercise carried out, one letter of objection has been 
received from the owner of one of the adjoining commercial premises, Charcoal Grill, 
1 Chestnut Way.  In this letter, concern is raised that the change of use of the premise 
would have an impact on parking and a negative financial impact on the neighbouring 
business.   
 
A petition with 124 signatures has also been received. The petition is based on the 
following planning matters:- 
 

1. Impact of the use on parking; 
2. Odour and litter; 
3. Vermin (rats); and  
4. Unsociable behaviour and unsociable hours;  

 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National Policy 
 
The Future Wales – the National Plan 2040 sets out a strategy for addressing key 
national priorities through the planning system, including sustaining and developing a 
vibrant economy, achieving decarbonisation and climate-resilience, developing strong 
ecosystems and improving the health and well-being of our communities.   
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Edition 11 (February 2021) sets out the land use policies 
of the Welsh Government. The most relevant sections are: 
 
Paragraphs 3.3 – 3.16 sets out the principles of good design in new development 
proposals, which should take into account its relationship to its surrounding context.   
 

Paragraphs 4.3.30, 4.3.31 and 4.3.32 refer to mixed uses in centres and 
explains that ‘…although retailing (A1) uses should underpin retail and 
commercial centres, it is only one of the factors which contribute towards 
their vibrancy….Primary areas are typically characterised by a high 
proportion of A1 retail uses…Secondary areas typically contain mixed 
uses, for example shops, cafes and restaurants, financial establishments 
and other services and community facilities…Policies should encourage 
a diversity of uses in centres…’ 
 
Paragraph 4.3.33 talks about the vibrancy and viability of centres and states that these 
‘…are distinguished by a diversity of activity and uses which should contribute towards 
a centre’s well-being and success, whilst also reducing the need to travel…’ 
 

Page 7



The policies in PPW are supported by Technical Advice Notes (TANs). The most 
relevant TANs to this application are as follows:- 
 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 4: Retail and Commercial Development (November, 
2016) 
 
Section 2.3 of TAN 4 refers to the variety of uses in the centre and states that ‘…a 
wide range of uses are located in retail and commercial centres including retail, office, 
residential, leisure, tourism and community functions. These centres are traditionally 
characterised by having higher densities which increases scope for different uses, 
including residential, to be accommodated above retail and commercial floorspace. 
Encouraging people to live and work in existing centres reinforces local demand and 
provides additional vibrancy during the day and in the evening. This diversity of uses, 
whilst benefiting the wider economy, will need to be carefully planned and managed 
to ensure that no conflicts arise, particularly with regards to amenity…’ 
 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 12 - Design (March, 2016) advises that the Assembly 
Government is strongly committed to achieving the delivery of good design in the built 
and natural environment, which is fit for purpose and delivers environmental 
sustainability, economic development, and social inclusion at every scale throughout 
Wales. 
 
Local Policy 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan (LDP) 
2016-2031: 
 
Policy SW4 – Settlement boundaries 
Policy SW11 – Sustainable Design and Placemaking 
Policy EnW4 – Environmental Protection 
Policy EcW3 – Retail Hierarchy – Supporting Retailing Provision 
Policy EcW5 – Town and Local Centre Development 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The issues to consider under the assessment of this application relate to whether the 
proposed change of use, from an A1 use to an A3 use, would be acceptable in this 
location. The acceptability of the proposal with regard to its impact upon the character 
and appearance of the property, residential amenity, ecology, parking provision and 
highway safety are also primary considerations. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The premises lies within the settlement boundary.  Policy SW4 states that 
development in this location is considered acceptable in principle, provided it is 
compatible with other relevant LDP policies and material planning considerations. The 
proposal would therefore comply with Policy SW4.  
 
The premises also lies within the Gurnos Local Centre, and therefore Policies EcW3 
and EcW5 are relevant. Policy EcW3 relates to retail hierarchy, with the town centre 

Page 8



being the favoured location for retail and other complementary uses followed by local 
centres, provided they improve the vitality and viability of the centre. The proposal 
would represent a loss in A1 floorspace. However, within local centres a change of 
use from A1 to another A use class is acceptable in principle, subject to it enhancing 
the viability of the centre. In this instance, the proposal would enhance the vitality and 
viability of the centre since the restaurant would be occupying a premises, which has 
remained vacant for approximately 2 years. Also, the premise would be open during 
normal (day time) trading hours and no changes are proposed to its shop frontage.  
As such, the proposed use is not considered to have a negative impact on the vitality 
and viability of the Gurnos local centre. The proposal would therefore comply with LDP 
Policies EcW3 and EcW5.    
 
Character and Appearance 
 
The proposed change of use would not result in any external alterations to the building 
other than the addition of a flue. This alteration has been amended since it was 
originally submitted and is now shown to be installed internally.  As such, the proposed 
flue would not be visible within the wider area, other than its 0.7m metre projection 
above the roof line (which would be similar to the height of chimney). As such, this part 
of the proposal would not significantly harm the appearance of the premises, nor would 
it adversely affect the character of the street scene. It would therefore comply with 
Policy SW11.  
 
Residential amenity 
 
While acknowledging the concerns raised by local residents in relation to odour, 
unsociable hours and unsociable behaviour, the premises is sited within a local retail 
centre and does not directly adjoin any residential properties. The premise adjoins two 
other premises, a pharmacy to the north and a takeaway to the south.  It is appreciated 
that the proposed restaurant use, could generate disturbances as a result of the 
comings and goings of customers, particularly since it is proposed to operate into the 
evening.   Nevertheless, the operation of a restaurant until 11pm within an established 
local centre is considered acceptable, given that there are a variety of uses, including 
a takeaway use which has very similar opening hours in the evening.  As such, the 
proposal would not significantly add to the levels of noise and activity that already 
exist.  Consequently, the proposal would not harm residential amenity to an extent that 
would warrant the refusal of the proposal or necessitate a condition limiting opening 
hours.  It should also be noted that should the applicant wish to open the premise after 
23:00 hours this would be a matter controlled by the licensing department.  
 
In addition to noise and disturbance, it is also noted that certain uses within the A3 
Use Class would generate odours and cooking smells which can be detrimental to the 
living conditions of surrounding residents.  This can often be alleviated via a suitably 
designed extraction system and this proposal includes a flue, which exits the building 
through the roof.  The Council’s Environmental Health Manager has reviewed the 
details and has not raised an objection to the scheme but has recommended a 
condition requiring specification details for the extraction system to be submitted and 
approved prior to the commencement of the proposed restaurant use.   
 

Page 9



Taking into account the above, the proposed change of use would not detract from the 
privacy or amenities of nearby residential occupiers and would therefore comply with 
Policies SW11 and EnW4 of the LDP.    
 
Parking and Highway Safety  
 
Whilst appreciating that the restaurant use could lead to increased demand for long-
term parking in the locality, off-street parking is available within the communal car park 
to the front of the site.  It should be noted that the premise can operate as an A1 use 
without permission.  Such permitted uses could also increase demand for long-term 
parking that could be similar to the proposed use.  The application site is also located 
in a sustainable location where many day-to-day facilities can be accessed on foot, by 
bicycle or by using public transport.  Furthermore, the residential nature of the area 
means that it is reasonable to expect that many potential customers may live locally 
and would walk to the premises. Most importantly, the Head of Engineering has not 
raised an objection to the proposed development.  On the basis of the above, it is not 
considered that the development would have a detrimental impact on highway safety 
and is compliant with the requirements of Policy SW11 of the LDP.  
 
Ecology 
 
In respect of ecology, the Council’s Ecologist has concluded that survey work would 
not be required in respect of this proposal. However, in accordance with the 
Environment (Wales) Act (2016), the installation of a bat box has been requested. In 
this instance, given that the development relates to only minor external alterations, it 
would not be reasonable to impose a condition to require the installation of a bat box.  
 
Other matters 
 
The concerns raised to the application by a local business owner have been 
acknowledged.  However, the financial implications resulting from competition of 
similar uses in an area is not a matter which can be considered under planning 
legislation.     
 
There are concerns from local residents that the proposed use could attract vermin 
(i.e. rats) and result in increased litter in the area.  While these concerns are 
acknowledged, they are not considered reasons to warrant the refusal of planning 
permission and can indeed be controlled by other legislation.    
 
Conclusion 
 
The proposed development is acceptable in this location and would not adversely 
impact upon the character or appearance of the premises, nor would it be deemed 
detrimental to residential amenity, ecology or highway safety. It is considered that the 
proposal would help support the vitality and viability of the Gurnos local centre by 
enabling the re-use of a vacant building in a small retail area.  The development would 
not result in unacceptable noise and disturbance to the occupiers of residential 
properties in the area and the Head of Engineering has not raised any highway safety 
concerns.  Subject to the recommended conditions, the proposal is acceptable and 
would accord with Polices EcW3, EcW5 and SW11 of the LDP.   

Page 10



 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of 
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been 
taken into consideration when determining this application. In reaching the following 
recommendation, the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been 
considered and thus the proposal is in accordance with the sustainable development 
principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-
being objectives set out as required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
Accordingly the following recommendation is made: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS 
 
 
 
 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this 

decision. 
  
 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 
 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans and documents:  
  
 Drawing number 001 Rev B received on 11.11.2021 
 Drawing number 002 Rev A received on 11.11.2021 
 Drawing number 003 Rev A received on 11.11.2021 
  
 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define the 

scope of the permission. 
 
 3. Before the use commences, details of a system to prevent waste cooking oil, 

fats and grease and solid waste from entering the foul drainage system shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved scheme shall be implemented before the use of the premises 
commences and then shall operate in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - To protect the integrity of the public sewage system and ensure the 

free flow of sewage. 
 
 4. Before the use commences, a scheme of odour/effluvia/fume control shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall be implemented before the use commences and the use shall 
thereafter only be operated in accordance with the approved scheme.   

  
 Reason - To protect the amenities of the occupiers of adjoining properties in 

accordance with Policies SW11 and ENW4 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local County 
Borough Council Replacement Development Plan. 

 

Page 11



 5. No surface water and/or land drainage shall be allowed to connect directly or 
indirectly with the public sewerage network. 

  
 Reason  - To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to 

protect the health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or 
detriment to the environment. 

 
 
INFORMATIVES  
 
 1. This planning permission does not provide consent to undertake works that 

require a European Protected Species (EPS) licence. 
 All bats and their roosts are protected under UK and European legislation. It is 

an offence to deliberately kill, injure, capture or disturb a bat or to recklessly 
damage or destroy their breeding sites or resting places. 

  
 If works are planned on a building/tree in which bats are found to be roosting, 

Natural Resources Wales (NRW) must be contacted.  on 0300 065 3000 or at 
https://naturalresources.wales/permits-and-permissions/species-
licensing/apply-for-a-protected-species-licence/bat-licences/?lang=en. 

  
 If work has already commenced and bats are found, or if any evidence that 

bats are using the site as a roost is found, work should cease and NRW 
should be contacted immediately. 

  
 Under these circumstances, an EPS licence is likely to be required to 

undertake the works within the law. 
  
 2. The applicant/developer should be aware that the choice of extraction system 

must satisfy the requirements of the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 
and the specific regulations made thereafter, being the Workplace (Health and 
Safety Welfare) Regulations 1992 and the Gas Safety (Installation and Use) 
Regulations 1998.   

  
 The applicant/developer must ensure their choice of extraction system must 

be able to provide the same level of performance as specified in the DW/172 
Specification for Kitchen Ventilation Systems, which sets the benchmark for 
safe and effective ventilation in commercial kitchens.   

  
 The applicant must consult a suitably qualified person (i.e. commercial 

heating and ventilation specialist/commercial catering engineer to ensure that 
the choice of extraction system meets the above mentioned standard. 

  
 3. The developer is advised to fully review the response received from Welsh 

Water during the application process.  The proposed development is crossed 
by a public sewer and no operational development shall be carried out within 
3m of the centreline of this asset.  The applicant may also need to apply to 
Welsh Water for any connection to the sewer under Section 106 of the Water 
Industry Act 1991.   

  

Page 12



 The planning permission hereby granted does not extend any rights to carry 
out any works to the public sewerage or water supply system without first 
having obtained the necessary permissions from Welsh Water. 

 
 4. The Developer is advised to check and confirm the positions of all boundaries 

BEFORE construction works commence. 
  
 Any discrepancies or problems of interpretation of boundary lines shall be 

resolved amongst all interested parties BEFORE works commence. 
  
 Failure to comply with this information could lead to civil action being brought 

against the developer by aggrieved parties. 
  
 
 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 1st February 2022 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Marlene Ferreira 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 9th February 2022 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 

P/21/0144 23rd November 2021 MTCBC 

   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 

   

Construct two-storey rear 

extension, first floor rear 

extension, and ground and first 

floor terrace to the side of the 

property 

78 Heol Rhyd-y-bedd 

Pant 

Merthyr Tydfil 

CF48 2DS 

 

Mr & Mrs Coombs  

c/o George And Co 

Mr Chris George 

1st Floor Woodfired 

Studios 

62 High Street 

Merthyr Tydfil    

 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



Councillor Declan Sammon has requested that the application be reported to Planning 
Committee to consider the impact of the proposed development on the local area and 
upon neighbouring properties.  
 
APPLICATION SITE 
 
The application site relates to a semi-detached dwelling, 78 Heol Rhyd Y Bedd, 
located in Pant. It occupies a corner plot within the residential estate. It is served by a 
small enclosed front garden which connects to a larger side grassed garden area, both 
of which are enclosed by a low blockwork wall. The rear garden is separated from the 
side garden by a high brick wall and comprises patio and lawn areas, set over different 
levels, as the site slopes down gradually from the front to the rear. The dwelling is only 
served by on street parking which is available on the main road to the front of the 
dwelling and to the rear.  
 
The dwelling lies in a street of semi-detached and terraced dwellings all of which are 
similar in scale and appearance. Some of these properties, including the application 
site, have been extended to the rear. 
 
The application site lies within the settlement boundary – Primary Growth Area, as 
designated within the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local 
Development Plan 2016-2031.  
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT  
 
This application seeks planning permission to construct a two storey rear extension, a 
first floor rear extension and a ground and first floor terrace area to the side of the 
property.  
 
The two-storey rear extension would be constructed on an elevated rear patio area. It 
would provide a large kitchen/dining area at ground floor, a bedroom at first floor and 
extend to the same depth as the existing rear extension. It would measure 5.1 metres 
wide, 3.6 metres deep, with a 7.2 metre ridge height.   
 
The first floor flat roof rear extension would provide an en-suite and dressing area to 
serve the new first floor bedroom at the rear of the property. It would measure 3.4 
metres wide, 4.45 metres deep and 6.1 metres in height.  
 
The two-storey terrace area to the side of the property would be located within the side 
garden area and would measure between 5.1 metres and 5.5 metres in height (due to 
the sloping ground levels). It would provide a terrace area off the kitchen/dining area 
at ground floor, measuring 7.3 metres wide by 3 metres deep. At first floor, the terrace 
would be enclosed with glass balustrade and sub-divided so that part would serve 
bedroom 1 and the remainder would serve bedroom 3.  
 
A new and enclosed elevated patio area, measuring approximately 4.9 metres wide, 
2.1 metres deep and 0.8 metres in height, would be provided to the rear. This could 
be accessed via bi-folding doors from the kitchen/dining area. 
 
  

Page 16



PLANNING HISTORY  
 
The following planning history is relevant to this property: 
 
P/16/0156 – Erect single storey rear extension – Approved: 30th June 2016 
 
CONSULTATION  
 
Consultations were not carried out under this application.  
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to the adjoining properties (on 
21/04/21) and a site notice was displayed (on 04/05/21) in the vicinity of the site. One 
letter of objection was received (from the occupier of 77 Heol Rhyd-y-Bedd) following 
this publicity exercise. The concerns raised have been summarised below: 
 

- The height and width of the extension would permanently cast a shadow over 
my garden and further limit the amount of natural light entering my property, 
especially during the darker months.  

- My garden is my only source of enjoyment and I spend long periods of time with 
my family in the garden. The proposed extension will place my garden into 
shade, effecting my plants and my ability to enjoy the sun. The lack of direct 
sunlight will make my garden much colder.  

- The proposed extension will be overbearing, unsightly and worsen my privacy.  
- The existing rear extension has already been detrimental to me by casting 

darkness over my property and this will be further reduced by the new 
extension. 

- The construction of the extension will cause significant noise and disturbance 
which will significantly impact my mental health. 

- The loss of natural light into my garden and my house and the loss of views, 
would have a negative impact on the value of my property.  

 
During consideration of the application, the agent was advised that the proposal was 
unacceptable in respect of its adverse visual impact and harm to amenity of 
neighbouring residents. As such, the agent was invited to amend the application to 
omit the two-storey side terrace area and the rear first floor flat roof extension. 
However, no amendments have been forthcoming and as such, the application will be 
determined as originally submitted.   
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National Development Framework 
 
- The Future Wales – the National Plan 2040 
 
This document sets out a strategy for addressing key national priorities through the 
planning system, including sustaining and developing a vibrant economy, achieving 

Page 17



decarbonisation and climate-resilience, developing strong ecosystems and improving 
the health and well-being of our communities.   
 
National Planning Policies  
 
- Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February 2021)  
 
Paragraph 3.3 refers to good design and states that ‘…design is not just about the 
architecture of a building but the relationship between all elements of the natural and 
built environment and between people and places.’ 
 
Paragraph 3.9 refers to character and states that ‘…the special characteristics of an 
area should be central to the design of a development. The layout, form, scale and 
visual appearance of a proposed development and its relationship to its surroundings 
are important planning considerations. A clear rationale behind the design decisions 
made, based on site and context analysis, a strong vision, performance requirements 
and design principles, should be sought throughout the development process and 
expressed, when appropriate, in a design and access statement…’ 
 
Paragraph 3.14 refers to context appraisal and states that these ‘…should be used to 
determine the appropriateness of a development proposal in responding to its 
surroundings. This process will ensure that a development is well integrated into the 
fabric of the existing built environment…’  
 
- Technical Advice Notes (TANs) 
 
TAN 12: Design (2016) – This TAN advises that the Assembly Government is strongly 
committed to achieving the delivery of good design in the built and natural 
environment, which is fit for purpose and delivers environmental sustainability, 
economic development, and social inclusion at every scale throughout Wales. 
 
Paragraph 4.16 and 4.17 state that ‘…achieving good design is the responsibility of all 
those involved in the design process…who should consider how each aspect of the 
design process meets the objectives of good design and responds to local context…’ 
 
Local Planning Policies 
 
- The Merthyr Tydfil Replacement LDP 2016-2031 
 
Policy SW4: Settlement Boundaries; 
Policy SW11: Sustainable Design and Placemaking; 
 
Policy SW11 is the main primary consideration and points 1 to 3 are particularly 
relevant and state that new development should ‘…be appropriate to its local context 
in terms of scale, height, massing, elevational treatment, materials and detailing, 
layout, form, mix and density; integrate effectively with adjacent spaces, the public 
realm and historic environment to enhance the general street scene and create good 
quality townscape; and, not result in an unacceptable impact on local amenity, loss of 
light or privacy, or visual impact, and incorporate a good standard of landscape 
design…’ 

Page 18



 
- Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG’s) 
 
SPG 6 – A Design Guide for Householders (September 2015) 
 
It is noted in the SPG that ‘…any extension or alteration to your property should be 
sympathetic to its surroundings in terms of its scale, siting and appearance, to ensure 
it complements neighbouring properties and the wider street scene…’  
 
 ‘...the size, shape and siting of an extension to your house must be of an appropriate 
height and form that is in keeping and subservient to the existing building and its 
setting…’  
 
In the case of two-storey rear extensions, the SPG states that ‘…due to the more 
substantial scale of two storey rear extensions, greater care in their design is required 
to ensure that they have a satisfactory relationship to the existing dwelling and their 
context…’  
 
‘…Two storey rear extensions should be of an appropriate size that is proportionate to 
the existing building. Overly dominant extensions may lead to over-bearing impacts 
on adjoining houses and their garden areas, which would likely impinge on natural 
light, the outlook and the amenities of neighbouring occupiers…’ 
 
’…The design of the extension may also be influenced by an established development 
pattern and the presence of existing extensions. As such, the character of the site and 
surrounding area will inform the extent of development that can be accommodated 
within the site…’ 
 
In respect of side extensions, the SPG states that ‘…Side extensions are often visually 
prominent and have the potential to greatly impact on the character of the building and 
the wider street scene. Therefore a side extension requires a sensitive approach to its 
design to ensure it integrates well with the surrounding area and respects the 
character and appearance of the house…’ 
 
‘…Two storey side extensions will often have a greater impact on the building by the 
very nature of their increased height and the affect it would have on the roof of the 
dwelling…’ 
 
‘…Semi-detached properties, in particular, are often designed to be symmetrical. By 
introducing an extension to one side, the appearance of the houses can become 
visually unbalanced from the front…’ 
 
‘…Where a property is located on a corner plot or at a junction, the building line of the 
side street should be respected. In such cases, a side extension has the potential to 
project forward of houses along the side street resulting in a prominent and 
incongruous feature within the street scene…’ 
 
‘…The roof design of a side extension should match the dwelling in terms of its style, 
pitch and materials incorporating a lowered ridge line. This will ensure that it relates 
well to the building and does not present an inconsistent feature within the street 

Page 19



scene. In most cases a single pitched, hipped or gabled roof will be more appropriate 
than a flat roof…’ 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The dwelling is located within an established residential area in the settlement 
boundary, as such the principle of extending the property is acceptable subject to 
compliance with relevant policies and material planning considerations. Therefore, the 
key issues to consider under the assessment of this application relate to whether the 
proposed two storey rear extension, the proposed first floor extension and the two-
storey side terrace extension, would amount to an acceptable form of development 
with regard to their impact upon the character and appearance of the area and the 
residential amenities of those living nearby. The impact of the extensions upon parking 
provision and highway safety is also an important consideration.    
 
Character and Appearance  
 
In terms of the visual impact of the proposed two storey rear extension and first floor 
rear extension, these combined, would extend to the full width of the dwelling. The two 
storey rear extension would feature a pitched roof whilst the first floor rear extension 
would feature a flat roof design. Although it is appreciated an existing two storey flat 
roof projection links the semi-detached properties (i.e. 77 and 78), this is set back 
considerably from the front elevations and set in from the rear elevations. As such this 
original feature is a subservient part of the overall design. On the other hand, the 
combination of two storey flat and pitched roofed extensions (projecting to the same 
depth) would result in bulky and alien form of development which would have an 
adverse impact on the character and appearance of the existing property and wider 
area.  As such, this part of the proposal would not accord with LDP Policy SW11.  
 
Likewise, the proposed two-storey terraced extension to the side of the property is 
also considered visually unacceptable.  This would be sited in a particularly prominent 
location on the side of the property. The 3 metre projection, which would extend the 
built development beyond the front elevations of the terraced properties to the north 
east (Heulwen Close), would only accentuate its unacceptability and prominence. This 
siting, combined with its totally unacceptable and incompatible design, would result in 
development completely at odds with the dwelling and neighbouring properties. 
Indeed, it would be a visually unacceptable addition that would fail to respect the 
existing rhythm and layout of this part of the estate. The proposed two-storey terrace 
extension would therefore amount to an insensitive addition, which would have a 
detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the existing dwelling and the 
surrounding area. As such, it would not accord with the guidance set out under SPG 
Note 6 or LDP Policy SW11.          
 
Residential Amenity  
 
The greatest impact from the proposed development, in terms of overlooking, 
overbearing and loss of light impact, would be to the neighbouring semi-detached 
property 77 Heol Rhyd y Bedd, which is located to the northwest of the application 
dwelling. Whist 1 Heulwen Close also adjoins the boundary with the application 
property, the proposed extensions would be sited over 8 metres away from this 

Page 20



neighbouring dwelling and would therefore not have any overbearing impact or cause 
any loss of light to this neighbouring occupier. Furthermore, since this neighbouring 
dwelling (1 Heulwen Close) does not have any southwest side facing windows, the 
extensions would not result in any direct overlooking or loss of privacy.  
 
In respect of 77 Heol Rhyd y Bedd, whilst the proposed two-storey terrace on the side 
elevation of the property would have no effect, the first floor rear extension would have 
an adverse impact on this neighbouring dwelling.     
 
The first floor flat roof rear extension would be sited immediately adjacent to the 
dividing boundary and, as a result of its height and depth, would result in a visually 
dominant feature when viewed from the neighbouring property. The overbearing 
impact would be exacerbated by its depth and the fact that the ground levels of the 
application site slope down from the front to the rear of the property. This results in the 
extension having a maximum height of 6.1 metres (measured to the rear garden level). 
In addition to the overbearing impact, the first floor rear extension, by virtue of its 
height, depth and siting, would cause a significant loss of light to the rear garden of 
this neighbouring property. Whilst the neighbouring garden is located to the north of 
the application property, the addition of a first floor rear extension, would result in a 
significant increase in overshadowing to the neighbours rear garden area. A first floor 
window is proposed in the rear of the first floor extension. However, this would serve 
an en-suite and could be obscurely glazed and thus there would be no loss of privacy. 
The window in the rear of the two storey pitched roof extension would serve a 
bedroom. However, it would be located approximately 5 metres away from the dividing 
boundary and as such, would not result in any direct or additional overlooking 
opportunities than that currently achieved from any other rear facing window on the 
existing dwelling. The proposed first floor flat roof rear extension would therefore result 
in an overbearing and intrusive form of development, which would be detrimental to 
the amenities of the adjoining occupiers and thus fail to accord with LDP Policy SW11.     
 
Other issues raised by the objector 
 

- The loss of a view and the impact on the value of a property are not material 
planning considerations. 

- The noise and disturbance caused during construction is appreciated but this 
is an inevitable consequence of any development. It will also be relatively short 
term and would not be a reason to refuse the application. 

 
Parking and Highway Safety 
 
The proposed development would increase the size of the bedrooms at the property. 
However, the number of bedrooms would remain the same. As such, the parking 
demand for the extended dwelling would not be any greater than that existing. The 
proposed development would therefore not give rise to any significant highway safety 
issues and would therefore comply with Policy SW11.  
  
  

Page 21



CONCLUSION 
 
The proposal would have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of 
the existing dwelling and wider area and would harm the residential amenity of 
adjoining occupiers.  As such, the proposal would not accord with the relevant policies.    
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of 
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been 
taken into consideration when determining this application. In reaching the following 
recommendation, the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been 
considered and it is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through 
its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set 
out as required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
Accordingly, the following recommendation is made: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE REFUSED for the following REASONS: 
 
 
 1. The proposed rear and side extensions, by virtue of their siting, scale and 

design, would result in insensitive and incongruous forms of development that 
would fail to respect the character and appearance of the existing dwelling and 
the wider area. The proposal would therefore be contrary to Policy SW11 of the 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
 2. The proposed first floor rear extension, by virtue of its siting and scale, would 

have an overbearing impact and result in a loss of light to the rear garden of 77 
Heol Rhyd y Bedd. As such, it would have a detrimental impact upon the 
residential amenity of the adjoining occupiers, contrary to Policy SW11 of the 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
 
 

Page 22



 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 1st February 2022 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 9th February 2022 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 

P/21/0416 16th December 2021 MTCBC 

   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 

   

Proposed residential 

development comprising 23 

affordable dwellings with 

associated drainage and access 

works 

Land At Springfield Rise 

Treharris 

Merthyr Tydfil 

 

 

c/o Agent  

c/o Mr Sam Courtney 

LRM Planning Ltd 

22 Cathedral Road 

Cardiff 

CF119LJ    

 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



APPLICATION SITE 
 
This application relates to an area of land that is roughly triangular in shape measuring 
approximately 0.69 of a hectare, located on the northern edge of Treharris, adjacent 
to Springfield Rise. The site previously comprised of a large and steep mount of earth 
and rubble, which was thought to be the residual waste material left over from the 
ground works associated with the construction of Springfield Rise. In 2015, planning 
permission was granted for the residential development of the site, which involved the 
re-profiling of the land. Although some ground works had initially started, the 
development was later abandoned for a number of years.  
 
Much of the land in the south-west part of the site was levelled out to accommodate a 
new access road and the footings for new dwellings. The land in the north-east part of 
the site slopes up to a much higher level, which is similar to that of the nearby existing 
dwellings. The difference in level is also noticeable by the presence of a high brickwork 
retaining wall along part of the south-east boundary that abuts the existing highway. 
 
The ground within the site has been significantly disturbed, but given its abandonment 
for some years, new scrub vegetation has emerged across the site. Notably along the 
north-west boundary of the site, there is a long and continuous hedgerow, in an 
elevated position, that runs alongside an existing access lane, which serves a 
residential property to the north (Reservoir House). 
 
The site is bound to the north and west by land that forms part of the open countryside. 
To the south-east is a row of semi-detached dwellings that front on to Twynygarreg 
Road. These properties are generally elevated above the main highway and some 
have elevated garden areas due to the change in levels. To the north-east is a group 
of large self-build detached dwellings that front on to Springfield Rise. It is noted that 
some of these dwellings are elevated above the highway with integral garages at the 
lower ground level and raised front garden areas. 
 
The access road serving the site and the adjacent properties has a patchy tarmac 
surface, with no formal pedestrian segregation. Due to its incomplete and poor 
condition, this road does not form part of the adopted highway. There is also a legal 
Right of Way that crosses the site from the south-west corner (accessed from 
Twynygarreg Road) to the north-east, where it extends behind the existing dwellings 
and then continues to the south-east where it links back to Twynygarreg Road.  
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the construction of 23 residential units 
comprising 4 pairs of semi-detached dwellings, a detached dwelling and two buildings 
that would provide a total of 14 walk-up flats. The development would largely provide 
1 and 2 bedroom properties with a pair of semi-detached dwellings providing 3 
bedrooms and the detached dwelling providing 4 bedrooms. 
 
The general layout of the development would involve extending the existing access 
road to the south-west, adjacent to the rear garden boundaries of the dwellings that 
front on to Twynygarreg Road. The proposed flats and five of the dwellings would be 
positioned to have a frontage on to this road in a linear form with a new turning head 

Page 24



provided at the end of the street. A new access would also spur off the road to the 
northern elevated part of the site, to serve the upper levels of the flats and four 
dwellings. The existing section of the access road serving the site would be improved 
to adoptable standards with a new footpath provided along both sides of the 
carriageway. Additionally, the existing highway serving  Springfield Rise to the north-
east would be improved and brought up to adoptable standards. The vegetation in the 
south-west corner of the site would be cleared to accommodate a new pedestrian 
route that would form part of the diverted right of way. 
 
Each of the dwellings would accommodate at least 2 parking spaces on driveways 
and one parking space would be provided for each of the flats in designated parking 
spaces to the front and rear of each block. Private garden areas would be provided to 
the front and rear of the dwellings. A landscaping scheme has been provided which 
illustrates planted areas would be provided along the street to enhance the quality of 
the public areas. The existing hedgerow along the north-west boundary would be 
retained and a new retaining wall would be constructed along this boundary to support 
the steep embankment that was created by the previous developers. 
 
The proposed flats (Block A, Units 1-8) would be located adjacent to the north-east 
boundary opposite 5-6 Springfield Rise with a frontage onto the existing access road. 
The building would measure 18.9m wide by 9.7m deep. Due to the change in levels 
the building would be 12.8m high (three storeys) when viewed from the front and 6.8m 
high (single storey) when viewed from the rear. Four of the flats would be accessed 
from the front via the existing road at the lower ground level and the other 4 flats would 
be accessed from the new access road to the rear of the building. It is noted that two 
of the flats would be accommodated within the roof space, which would include dormer 
windows on the rear roof plane and roofs lights to the front. 
 
The proposed flats (Block B, Units 9-14) would adjoin Block A opposite 3-4 Springfield 
Rise with a frontage onto the existing access road. This building would measure 18.9m 
wide by 8m deep. Due to the change in levels the building would be 12.2m high (three 
storeys) when viewed from the front and 9.2m high (single storey) when viewed from 
the rear. Two of the flats would be accessed from the front via the existing road at the 
lower ground level and the other 4 flats would be access from the new access road to 
the rear of the building. 
 
To accommodate some amenity space for the flats, the majority of the units would 
include recessed balcony areas along the south-east elevation of the buildings. The 
material finishes for both blocks of flats would comprise facing brickwork on the 
elevations and fibre cement slate on the roof. 
 
The detached dwelling on Plot 15 would be located in the south-west part of the site 
(to the rear of 46 Twnygarreg) with the front elevation orientated to the north-east 
towards the access road. The dwelling would measure 9.9m wide by 9.3m deep and 
8.4m high with a pitched roof. The building has been designed with a single storey 
annexe on the south-east side to further setback the main bulk of the dwelling away 
from the neighbouring properties. The dwelling would also be setback from the rear 
garden boundaries to accommodate the proposed diverted right of way. 
 

Page 25



The semi-detached dwellings on plots 16-19 would be located at the centre of the site 
and orientated to the south-east with a frontage onto the access road. Each pair of 
these dwellings would measure 12.6m wide by 8.4m deep and 9m high with a pitched 
roof.  
 
The semi-detached dwellings on plots 20 & 21 would be located in the top northern 
corner of the site and orientated to the south-east with a frontage onto the access 
road. These dwellings would measure 17.4m wide by 6.2m deep and 7.9m high with 
a pitched roof. 
 
The semi-detached dwellings on plots 22-23 would be located close to the north-west 
boundary of the site adjacent to the existing turning facility. These dwellings would be 
oriented to the south-west with a frontage onto the access road. The pair of dwellings 
would measure 13m wide by 9.1m deep and 9.3m high with a pitched roof.  
 
The dwellings would be of a modest design incorporating some brickwork bands and 
detailing around windows. Each property would include a canopy above the front 
entrances and photovoltaic panels would be installed on the roofs. The material 
finishes of all of the dwellings would comprise facing brickwork on the elevations and 
fibre cement slate on the roof. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
P/15/0276 - Erection of 9 detached dwellings. 
 
   Permission GRANTED on 27.11.2015 
 
P/09/0300 - Erection of two dwellings (pair of semi detached). 
 
   REFUSED permission on 05.05.2010 due to poor design and 
impact  

on the right of way. 
 
P/05/0476 - Drainage, road access and plot layout (to serve residential  

development consent ref: P/04/0029). 
 
Permission GRANTED on 30.09.2005 

 
P/04/0029 - Residential development - 26 plots (Outline). 
 
   Permission GRANTED on 10.09.2004 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Head of Engineering - No objection subject to conditions relating to 
highway  

design, ground investigations and retaining works. 
 
Planning Division’s 
Policy Officer   - No objection. 

Page 26



 
Planning Division’s 
Ecologist   - No objection subject to conditions relating to reptile  

mitigations and ecological enhancements. 
 
Welsh Water   - No response. 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to the neighbouring properties on 
the 16th December 2021 and three site notices were displayed within the vicinity of the 
site on the 17th December 2021. A press notice was also published in the local 
newspaper on the 23rd December 2021. 
 
As a result of this publicity exercise, 1 letter of objection has been received, which 
raises the following concerns: 
 

1. It was understood that 20 executive type houses would be built within the site, 
consisting of 4/5 bedroom homes. The proposal for 16 flats is unacceptable, it 
is not in keeping with the area and would be an eye-sore in an already elevated 
position. 

2. The diversion of the right of way would be strongly opposed. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National planning policy 
 
The Future Wales – the National Plan 2040 sets out a strategy for addressing key 
national priorities through the planning system, including sustaining and developing a 
vibrant economy, achieving decarbonisation and climate-resilience, developing strong 
ecosystems and improving the health and well-being of our communities.   
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW), Edition 11, February 2021: 
 
Para 3.5 – 3.15 set out the importance of high quality design to ensure inclusive 
design, to promote environmental sustainability and ensure high environmental 
quality. Regard should also be given to the special characteristics of an area, 
community safety and to encourage sustainable forms of transport. 
 
Para 3.55 notes that previously developed land wherever possible should be used in 
preference to greenfield sites where it is suitable for development. 
 
Para 4.1.43 – 4.1.56 set out the need to reduce the level and speed of traffic in new 
development, the provision of car parking and how this may be integrated into new 
development to minimise the reliance on cars. Transport assessments are also an 
important mechanism to determine anticipated impacts a development proposal may 
have. 
 

Page 27



Para 6.4.21 – 6.4.23 note that local authorities should seek to maintain and enhance 
biodiversity and build resilient ecological networks to ensure that any adverse 
environmental effects can first be avoided, mitigated or compensated. Regard should 
also be given to any potential impacts on protected species which may result in 
disturbance or harm to the species or its habitat. 
 
Technical Advice Notes (TAN): 
 

 TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning, September 2009 

 TAN 12 Design, March 2016 

 TAN 15 Development and Flood Risk, July 2004 

 TAN 18, Transport, March 2007 
 
Local planning policy 
 
Merthyr Tydfil Replacement Local Development Plan (LDP) 2016-2031: 

 Policy SW1 - Provision of New Homes 

 Policy SW2 - Provision of Affordable Housing 

 Policy SW3 - Sustainably Distributing New Homes 
- Policy SW4 - Settlement Boundaries 
- Policy SW9 - Planning Obligations 

- Policy SW11 - Sustainable Design and Placemaking 
- Policy SW12 - Improving the Transport Network 
- Policy CW1 - Historic Environment 
- Policy EnW1 - Nature Conservation and Ecosystem Resilience 
- Policy EnW3 – Regionally Important Geological Sites, Sites of 

Importance for Nature Conservation, Local Nature Reserves and 
Priority Habitats and Species. 

- Policy EnW4 - Environmental Protection 
- Policy EnW5 - Landscape Protection 
- Policy EcW10 – Sustainably Supplying Minerals 
- Policy EcW13 – Minerals Safeguarding 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): 
 

 SPG 1 Affordable Housing, March 2012 

 SPG 2 Planning Obligations, March 2012 

 SPG 4 Sustainable Design, July 2013 

 SPG 5 Nature and Development, May 2015 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Land use principle 
 
This application relates to an area of land located within the settlement boundary 
where the majority of new development is generally encouraged and supported in 
principle by policy SW4 of the LDP. The site is situated adjacent to a predominantly 
residential area and planning permission has previously been granted for the 

Page 28



residential development of the site on a number of occasions. The application site 
would constitute previously developed (brown field) land, given that works have 
previously commenced involving significant ground works and the construction of 
foundations at the time, which was later abandoned. As such, the proposal would 
deliver an alternative residential scheme to complete the development of the site and 
the wider Springfield Rise estate. Additionally, the development would make a modest 
contribution towards the provision of new affordable homes in line with policy SW1 
and SW2 of the LDP. Accordingly, the principle of the development is acceptable. 
 
Design approach 
 
The development of the site is largely constrained by its awkward shape and the steep 
topography in some areas. The general layout has been informed by the intention to 
utilise and extend the existing access road with the front of the buildings orientated 
towards the road to provide an appropriate street scene. A new road would be 
constructed that spurs off to the northern corner of the site in order to provide access 
to the upper parts. The layout would provide an appropriate response to the row of 
dwellings opposite (south-east) and would be seen, in relation to the detached 
dwellings (north-east), as a continuation of the street. The dwellings and flats have 
been setback from the access road to maximise the separation distance from the 
residential properties to the south-east. Whilst the existing right of way that crosses 
through the site is currently largely inaccessible, the layout would accommodate a new 
footpath that would better link to nearby pedestrian routes. 
 
The house types in the surrounding area vary in their style from traditional rendered 
terraced properties (to the south) to modern semi-detached/detached dwellings with 
brickwork finishes to the south-east and north-east. Some of the modern dwellings 
incorporate sand stone quoins, contrasting brickwork band details on the elevations, 
solar panels, gable features and dormer windows. Additionally, due to the topography, 
the majority of the modern properties include elevated gardens, with some also having 
integral garages at the lower ground level. 
 
The proposed block of flats would be located adjacent to the north-east boundary and 
would appear as three storey buildings. They would essentially be ‘cut-in’ to the 
existing steep embankment with the ground floor flats access from the front and the 
upper flats accessed to the rear from the new access road. Whilst there are no three 
storey buildings in the general area, there are a number of properties adjacent to the 
site that are nonetheless of a similar scale. In particular to the dwellings to the north-
east are elevated above the road with integral garages at the lower ground floor level 
and elevated front garden areas. As such, the scale of the blocks of flats would not 
appear out of context and would not differ significantly in height to the existing elevated 
properties. The provision of ground floor flats also presents an active frontage on to 
the access road rather than extending the high boundary walls already present in the 
area. 
 
The design of the proposed dwellings are of a typical modest design and where 
appropriate brickwork detailing would be used on the elevations to provide some visual 
interest to the properties. The dwellings have all been positioned to front onto the 
access road to provide appropriate frontages along the street. All of the dwellings 

Page 29



would incorporate solar panels on the roofs that contribution to sustainable building 
design by utilising renewable energy. 
 
The overall design of the development, including the layout, scale and appearance is 
acceptable. The general appearance of the dwellings and flats would incorporate a 
number of features that compliments the nearby properties. The proposed material 
finishes, which includes facing brickwork on the elevations and fibre cement slate roofs 
would enable the development to integrate well with the adjacent dwellings. As such, 
the development would not have an adverse impact on the character of appearance 
of the surrounding area. Therefore, the proposal complies with policy SW11 of the 
LDP.  
 
Amenity impact 
 
The properties that have the potential to be affected by the development includes 
Reservoir House to the north, Springfield Rise to the north-east and the dwellings to 
the south-east that front on to Twnygarreg Raod. 
 
The dwellings on plots 22 & 23 would be closest to the Reservoir House (to the north), 
with a separation distance of approximately 38m. The proposed development would 
be at a much lower level to this neighbouring property with intervening vegetation that 
would limit any potential overbearing or overlooking concerns. 
 
The proposed flats would be closest to the detached dwellings along Springfield Rise 
(to the north-east) and would be positioned approximately 24m to the side of these 
properties. Given the separation distance and the fact that flats would be at a similar 
level, there would be no significant overbearing impacts. There would also be no 
windows proposed on the side elevation of the flats that may otherwise give rise to 
any overlooking concerns. 
 
It is noted that the proposed flats would be located opposite No. 1-6 Springfield rise, 
which are at a lower level. Although their rear garden areas back on to the existing 
access road, there is limited boundary treatments that may otherwise secure more 
private amenity spaces. Instead, there are open hardstanding areas on the top parts 
of the gardens to accommodate off-street parking. The proposed flats have been 
setback from the access road to increase the separation distance from houses 
opposite, to minimise any potential overlooking or overbearing impacts. The flats 
would be between 25m to 28m away from No. 1-6 Springfield Rise. For context, the 
existing detached properties to the north-east are approximately 19m to 23m apart. 
 
Given the open nature of the rear garden areas, there would likely be a degree of 
overlooking form the flats, which may not differ significantly to what you may expect 
from typical back-to-back housing. Although the residents have enjoyed greater 
privacy to the rear, due to the lack of any development, it is noted that the application 
site was always intended to be developed since works commenced on Springfield 
Rise. The siting of the flats is deemed to be a sufficient distance to not give rise to 
significant overbearing concerns or direct overlooking into the properties opposite. The 
lower parts of the rear gardens would remain partially private where they are screened 
by parked vehicles, sheds and low level fences that enclose part of the gardens. As 

Page 30



such, the flats would not have a significant impact on the amenities on the surrounding 
properties.  
 
Similarly, the two storey dwellings on plots 16 to 19 would be positioned a sufficient 
distance away from No. 50 to 60 Twynygarreg Road to not impinge on their residential 
amenity. In this regard, it is noted that these existing properties have fully enclosed 
rear gardens and vegetation that provides additional screening. 
 
The dwelling on plot 15 would be positioned approximately 16m away from No. 46 & 
48 Twynygarreg and would be in close proximity (approx. 4m) to their rear garden 
boundary fence. The proposed dwelling would present its side elevation to the 
neighbouring properties, which would be void of any side windows. As such, there 
would be no overlooking concerns. To minimise any overbearing impacts, the dwelling 
would incorporate a single storey annexe adjacent to the rear garden boundary. This 
would result in the two storey element of the dwelling being setback approximately 7m 
from the adjacent garden. Whilst the presence of a dwelling to the rear of No. 46 & 48 
would be obvious, its design together with a sufficient setback from the garden 
boundary would not give rise to significant overbearing concerns. 
 
Overall the development would not have an unacceptable impact on the amenities of 
the neighbouring properties. In this regard, it is acknowledged that no objections have 
been received that raises such concerns. Therefore the proposal complies with policy 
SW11 of the LDP. 
 
Highway implications 
 
The existing access road serving the application site and the wider Springfield Rise 
estate was partly construction some year ago, but it was never completed. The road 
does not currently form part of the adopted highway due to its substandard condition. 
It is proposed as part of the development that this existing highway, serving both the 
development and the rest of Springfield Rise, would be improved to adoptable 
standards i.e. the carriageway would appropriately surfaced, with a suitable drainage 
system in place and the provision of footpaths. 
 
The proposed access would be completed to the appropriate standards, which would 
include a 4.8m wide carriageway and a footpath along both sides. The extended parts 
of this highway to serve the dwellings in the south-west and northern parts of the site, 
would be designed as shared surfaced roads with limited traffic movements in those 
parts of the site. Adequate turning areas would be provided within the site to enable 
vehicles to enter and leave in a forward gear. The proposed layout would not impact 
on the access for existing residents. Furthermore, the existing junction on to 
Twynygarreg is deemed to be of an acceptable design to accommodate the 
development. 
 
There would be highway improvements, not only in terms of the quality of the access 
in general, but also in terms of pedestrian safety with the provision of segregated 
footpaths. Additionally, the development would improve the links to the open 
countryside to the south-west with the provision of a new footpath that replaces the 
existing right of way.  
 

Page 31



It is noted that the legal right of way route, which extends across the site does not 
appear to be frequented often, with sections of the route being inaccessible. The point 
of access in the south-west corner of the site is currently obscured by overgrown 
vegetation. The section of the right of way that extends behind the existing detached 
dwellings to the north-east is now blocked by garden boundary fencing. There is also 
no obvious exit point back onto Twynygarreg Road to the east of the site. As such, the 
alignment of the right of way cannot be reasonably maintained and its realignment to 
follow the proposed access road would be acceptable. An informative should be 
attached to any decision notice to ensure the developer is aware that the realignment 
of the right of way requires a separate permission from the Rights of Way Division.  
 
The proposed highway arrangements are deemed to be acceptable and it is 
acknowledged that the Head of Engineering has not raised any highway safety 
concerns. Therefore, the proposal complies with policy SW11 of the LDP. 
 
Ecological impact 
 
The application site lies on the edge of the residential area of Twynygarreg and 
adjacent to the open countryside to the north and west. Whilst considerable 
engineering works have previously taken place, the site has been abandoned for a 
number of years, which has led to new vegetation reclaiming the land. As such, there 
is potential for new habitats to have been created across the site. Additionally, it is 
noted that the site lies in close proximity (100m to the north-east) to the Coed Cefn-
fforest & Cwm Cothi (SINC 46) and (100m to the west) Treharris Park & Cardiff Road 
Woodlands (SINC 47) Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation. Accordingly, a 
Preliminary Ecological Assessment (PEA) has been submitted in support of the 
application, together with a Reptile Survey. 
 
It was identified in the PEA that the hedgerow along the north-west boundary of the 
site, may have some potential to be used occasionally by foraging bats and this feature 
would be retained as part of the development. Across the site, the report considers the 
development to have some potential to negatively impact on reptiles, nesting birds and 
result in the loss of open mosaic habitat. It is noted in the Reptile Survey that a slow 
worm and 2 common lizards were present within the site. Although the survey 
considered there to be a small population of reptiles, it is noted that one of the common 
lizards was a juvenile, which suggests the presence of a breeding population within 
the locale. As such, the report recommends that any reptiles found within the site 
would need to be translocated to another suitable location. The PEA also recommends 
that the loss of habitat environments within the site should be appropriately mitigated. 
It is therefore proposed that land outside of the application site, approximately 70m to 
the south-east (within the applicant’s ownership) would be utilised to provide a new 
habitat environment for reptiles. This would involve the clearance of some vegetation 
and the construction of a reptile hibernacula, which typically comprises of rubble stone 
and brash, roughly covered in soil and turf to create a small mound that can then be 
used by reptiles for hibernation. The creation of the reptile hibernacula and its 
management should be secured by condition, prior to any site clearance works 
commencing. 
 
The submitted plans illustrate the potential for the development to incorporate 
appropriate planting across the site. It is advised by the Planning Division’s Ecologist 

Page 32



that native plant species should be used to enhance the biodiversity interest where 
possible. Further details of the proposed landscaping scheme shall be secured by 
condition. Additionally, it is proposed that 4 integrated bat boxes and 4 bird boxes 
would be provided on the buildings across the site. It is acknowledged that the 
Planning Division’s Ecologist is satisfied with the survey work that has been 
undertaken and the conclusions reached, subject to conditions to ensure the 
appropriate mitigation measures are undertaken. Although the development would 
likely have some potential to impact on protected species and habitats, appropriate 
mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures would be secured to overcome 
these concerns. Therefore, the proposal complies with policy EnW1 and EnW2 of the 
LDP. 
 
Planning obligations 
 
Policy SW9 of the LDP sets out the need to seek contributions towards affordable 
housing, where appropriate having regard to the viability of the development. In ‘Other 
Growth Areas’, which includes Treharris, where 10 or more homes are proposed, an 
on-site contribution of 5% affordable housing shall be sought. In this instance, the 
development would provide 100% affordable housing, which would be managed by 
the applicant (Merthyr Tydfil Housing Association). Therefore, the proposal complies 
with policy SW9 of the LDP. Additionally, the development would have a positive 
contribution towards the delivery of affordable housing across the County Borough in 
line with policy SW2 of the LDP. 
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of 
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been 
taken into consideration when determining this application. In reaching the following 
recommendation, the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been 
considered and thus the proposal is in accordance with the sustainable development 
principle through its contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-
being objectives set out as required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
The proposed development is situated in a sustainable location within the settlement 
boundary and would make a positive contribution towards the provision of affordable 
new homes within the County Borough. The general design of the development 
appropriately responds to the context of the site and surroundings. The issues raised 
by the objector have been addressed in the planning considerations section of the 
report. Highway improvements works would provide a benefit to local residents and 
provide better access to the open countryside. Appropriate ecological mitigations and 
enhancements measures would be implemented. 
 
For the above reasons, the proposed development is acceptable and complies with 
the relevant LDP policies. Accordingly, the following recommendation is made: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS: 
 
 

Page 33



 
 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this 

decision. 
  
 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 
 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans and documents: 
  
 Drawing No. 00001, Rev P3 - Site Location Plan, received 26.01.2022 
 Drawing No. 1103, Rev P12 - Proposed Site Layout, received 21.01.2022 
 Drawing No. 0101, Rev P4 - Typical Walk-up Flats Block A, received 

16.12.2021 
 Drawing No. 0201, Rev P4 - Typical Walk-up Flats Block B, received 

16.12.2021 
 Drawing No. 0301, Rev P4 - House Type A Plot 15, received 16.12.2021 
 Drawing No. 0401, Rev P4 - House Type B Plots 16-19, received 16.12.2021 
 Drawing No. 0501, Rev P4 - House Type C Plots 20 & 21, received 21.01.2022 
 Drawing No. 0601, Rev P4 - House Type D Plot 22 & 23, received 16.12.2021 
 Drawing No. 1800, Rev P3 - Street Scenes, received 16.12.2021 
 Drawing No. 1000, Rev P1 - Boundary Details, received 16.12.2021 
 Drawing No. 6901, Rev P1 - Garden Shed Details, received 16.12.2021 
 Drawing No. 6902, Rev P1 - Typical Bin Store Details 
 Drawing No. 1107, Rev P3 - Section AA, received 16.12.2021 
 Drawing No. 1108, Rev P3 - Section BB, received 16.12.2021 
 Drawing No. 1109, Rev P3 - Section CC, received 16.12.2021 
 Preliminary Ecological Assessment, Version V3, dated 25.01.2022 
 Reptile Survey Report, Version V3, dated 25.01.2022 
  
 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define the 

scope of the permission. 
 
 3. Prior to any construction works commencing on site, details of the 

proposed brickwork to be used on the elevations of the buildings and boundary 
walls shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the external appearance of the proposed development 

will be in keeping with the character of the area and adjoining buildings in the 
interests of visual amenity and to accord with Policy SW11 of the Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
 4. No development shall take place until details, including structural calculations 

and facing materials, of any retaining wall which exceeds 1 metre in height have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
walls shall be completed in accordance with the approved details before the 
development hereby approved is brought into beneficial use.  

  

Page 34



 Reason - In the interest of safety and visual amenity in accordance with Policy 
SW11 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 5. Prior to the occupation of the dwellings, the boundary walls and fences, as 

illustrated on Drawing No. 1103 Rev P12 (site layout plan) and on Drawing No. 
1000 Rev P1 (boundary details), shall be erected in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive and 

boundaries protected in the interests of amenity in accordance with Policy 
SW11 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 6. No development or site clearance shall take place until there has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a scheme 
of landscaping, including a landscape management plan for a period of at least 
5 years. The scheme shall include indications of all existing trees (including 
spread and species) and hedgerows on the land, identify those to be retained 
and set out measures for their protection throughout the course of development. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to provide suitable biodiversity enhancements, to 
accord with Policies SW11, EnW1 and EnW2 of the Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
 7. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping 

shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the 
occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is 
the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged 
or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar 
size and species. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to provide suitable biodiversity enhancements, to 
accord with Policies SW11, EnW1 and EnW2 of the Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan 

 
 8. No development or site clearance shall take place until full mitigation details 

have been provided to compensate for the loss of open mosiac habitat, 
including the precise location of the proposed reptile hibernacula on the land 
outlined in blue on the site location plan (Drawing No.  0001 Rev P3) have first 
been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The 
reptile mitigation measures, including the construction of the reptile hibernacula 
shall be carried out in accordance with the details set in the Reptile Survey 
Report (dated 25.01.2022) prior to any works commencing on site. 

  

Page 35



 Reason - To protect the natural environment in accordance with Policies EnW1 
and EnW2 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 9. Prior to any construction works commencing on site a reptile management 

plan for a period of at least 5 years, to ensure the success of the translocation 
of reptiles to the receptor site is appropriately managed, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The reptile management 
plan shall be implemented fully in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason - To protect the natural environment in accordance with Policies EnW1 

and EnW2 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local 
Development Plan. 

 
10. Prior to works commencing on site, details of the four integrated bat boxes 

and four integrated bird boxes, including a plan illustrating their location on the 
buildings, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The bat and bird boxes shall be installed during the construction of 
the dwellings. 

  
 Reason - To protect the natural environment in accordance with Policies EnW1 

and EnW2 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local 
Development Plan. 

 
11. Prior to the installation of any external lighting, a detailed lighting scheme 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
The lighting scheme shall demonstrate that dark corridors for bat 
foraging/commuting will be maintained along the boundaries of the site and that 
the access points to bat boxes shall remain unilluminated, in accordance with 
the recommendations of the Preliminary Ecological Assessment, dated 
25.01.2022. The lighting scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
 Reason - To protect the natural environment and important habitat in 

accordance with Policies EnW1 and EnW2 of the Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
12. No development shall commence, including any works of demolition, until a 

Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the local planning authority. The approved statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The statement shall provide for: 

 i) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
 ii) loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
 iii) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
 iv) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 

displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
 v) wheel washing facilities;  
 vi) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during demolition and 

construction; and 

Page 36



 vii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works. 

  
 Reason - In the interests of the highway safety and free flow of traffic and to 

protect the environment and so as to accord with Policy SW11 of the Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

  
13. The proposed residential units hereby approved, shall only be used for 

affordable housing purposes in accordance with the definition of affordable 
housing as set out in paragraphs 5.1 and 5.2 of Technical Advice Note (TAN) 
2: Planning and Affordable Housing (June 2006) or any future guidance that 
replaces it. The residential units shall be affordable for both the first and 
subsequent occupiers. 

  
 Reason - To ensure the residential properties are only used for affordable 

housing in accordance with Policy SW9 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 

 
14. Construction works shall not take place outside the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 

Mondays to Fridays and 09:00 to 14:00 on Saturdays and at no time on 
Sundays or Public Holidays. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the noise emitted/activities are not a source of 

nuisance to occupants of nearby properties in accordance with Policy BW7 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 
INFORMATIVES  
 
 1. The grant of planning permission does not entitle developers to obstruct a 

public right of way. Enforcement action may be taken against any person who 
obstructs or damages a right of way. Development, in so far as it affects a 
right of way, should not be started; and the right of way should be kept open 
for public use until the necessary order under s.247 or s.257 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 for the diversion or extinguishment of the right of 
way has come into effect. Nor should it be assumed that because planning 
permission has been granted an order will invariably be made or confirmed.  If 
you need help or advice concerning the diversion or extinguishment order you 
should contact the Rights of Way Division on 01685 
725309/rightsofway@merthyr.gov.uk. 

 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

 

DATE WRITTEN 1st February 2022 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Huw Roberts 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 9th February 2022 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/21/0424 23rd December 2021 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Extension Stephens & George Ltd  

Goat Mill Road 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3TD 

Stephens & George Group  
c/o Mr Martyn Hayman 
Avante Architects 
Tec Marina 
Terra Nova Way 
Penarth Haven    

 
 

 
 
  

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



APPLICATION SITE 
 
This application relates to a large factory located on the Goat Mill Road Industrial Estate 
which is occupied by Stephens and George. The company’s main operations include the 
printing of magazines, brochures, catalogues, programmes, event guides and other 
commercial products. The application site, which is rectangular, measures approximately 59 
metres wide by 24 metres deep and is located to the west of the existing factory. The land is 
fairly flat and grassed with six trees located in the north-east corner of the site (adjacent to 
the existing factory building). It is bound to the east by the existing building and a grassed 
area to the south and west. The northern boundary is enclosed by a hedgerow and low 
decorative fence (beyond which is the driveway which leads to the main car park).  
 
The existing factory building (including offices) is located to the east of the application site. It 
mainly consists of pitched roof bays which are fairly consistent in terms of their size and 
external material (i.e. brick plinths with cladded walls and roofs).  
 
The factory is in a somewhat isolated location in the south-east corner of the industrial estate. 
It is bound by a wooded embankment to the south, a landscaped strip to the north and east 
(beyond which are other industrial units) and industrial units to the west.  
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Full planning permission is sought for an extension to the existing factory to provide 
warehousing and space for machinery (and small office spaces, a staff room, toilets and a 
lobby). It would be attached to the western side of an existing bay and be similar in scale 
measuring 59 metres wide by 24 metres deep with an 8.8 metre ridge height. Its roof would 
be hipped to the north and gabled to the south (as the existing bays). First floor windows, in 
the northern elevation, would enable light to enter a small mezzanine meeting room. An 
entrance door with glazed panels (either side and above) would be inserted into the southern 
elevation. An entrance door, in the northern elevation, would also enable external access. 
Access points would also be created internally to enable connection to the adjoining bay (and 
beyond).    
 
The application has been supported by: 
 
• A Design, Access and Sustainability report (December 2021) 
• A Pre-Application Community Consultation Report (December 2021) 
• An Ecological Assessment (December 2021) 
• A Surface Water Drainage Strategy Document (May 2018) 
• A Phase One Coal Mining Risk Assessment  
   
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The most recent and relevant history relating to the application site is: 
 
P/18/0189 - Proposed extension to print works – Granted 06.09.2018 
 
P/08/0057 - Erection of a single storey extension incorporating an office and store facility - 
Granted 01.05.2008 
 

Page 40



P/06/0101 - Extension (to house waste and dust extraction plant) – Granted 24.04.2006 
 
P/02/0431 - Extension to existing factory unit - Granted 17.12.2002 
 
CONSUTLATION 
 
Head of Engineering - No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Ecologist - No objection subject to conditions. 
 
The Coal Authority – No objection. 
 
Environmental Health Manager – No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Welsh Water - No objection. 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Wales) Order 2012, neighbouring industrial units were notified of the application, site notices 
were displayed within the vicinity of the site and a notice was advertised in the local 
newspaper on the 13th January 2022. 
 
At the time of writing this report no letters of objection have been received. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
The following policies are relevant to the determination of this application: 
 
National planning policy 
 
The Future Wales – the National Plan 2040 sets out a strategy for addressing key national 
priorities through the planning system, including sustaining and developing a vibrant 
economy, achieving decarbonisation and climate-resilience, developing strong ecosystems 
and improving the health and well-being of our communities.   
 
The following policies are most relevant: 
 
Policy 2 – Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration 
Policy 3 – Supporting Urban Growth and Regeneration 
Policy 9 – Resilient Ecological Networks and Green Infrastructure 
Policy 17 – Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and Associated Infrastructure 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW), Edition 11, February 2021: 
 
Para 3.5 – 3.15 set out the importance of high quality design to ensure inclusive design, to 
promote environmental sustainability and ensure high environmental quality. Regard should 
also be given to the special characteristics of an area, community safety and to encourage 
sustainable forms of transport. 
 

Page 41



Para 3.55 notes that previously developed land wherever possible should be used in 
preference to greenfield sites where it is suitable for development. 
 
Para 6.4.21 – 6.4.23 note that local authorities should seek to maintain and enhance 
biodiversity and build resilient ecological networks to ensure that any adverse environmental 
effects can first be avoided, mitigated or compensated. Regard should also be given to any 
potential impacts on protected species which may result in disturbance or harm to the species 
or its habitat. 
 
The policies in PPW are supported by Technical Advice Notes (TANs). The most relevant 
TANs to this application are as follows: 
 
TAN 5 – Nature Conservation and Planning provides advice about how the land use planning 
system should contribute to protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological 
conservation. 
 
TAN 12 - Design advises that the Welsh Government is strongly committed to achieving the 
delivery of good design in the built and natural environment, which is fit for purpose and 
delivers environmental sustainability, economic development, and social inclusion at every 
scale throughout Wales. 
 
TAN 23 - Economic Development advises on, amongst other issues, assessing the economic 
benefits of new development.  
 
Local Policy 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan (LDP) 2016-
2031: 
 
Policy SW4 – Settlement boundaries 
Policy SW11 – Sustainable design and Placemaking 
Policy CW1 – The Historic Environment 
Policy EnW1 – Nature Conservation and Ecosystem Resilience 
Policy EnW2 – Internationally and Nationally Protected Sites and Species 
Policy EnW4 – Environmental Protection 
Policy EcW2 – Protecting Employment Sites 
Policy EcW9 – District Heating 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Note No. 4 – Sustainable Design 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Note No.5 – Nature and Development 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Land use 
 
The application site lies within the settlement boundary as defined by the LDP, where the 
majority of new development is encouraged and generally supported by Policy SW4.  The 
site is also within an employment protection area, where Policy EcW2 of the LDP seeks to 
protect the employment function of the County Borough. In such areas development 
proposals which fall within Use Classes B1, B2 and B8 are supported.  Therefore, the 

Page 42



principle of the development is acceptable and it would be compatable with the existing 
businesses in the vicinity. 
 
Given the above, the main considerations of this application would be: 
 

• The impact of the extension on the character and appearance of the existing building 
and wider area;  

• Highway safety and car parking considerations; and 
• Ecological considerations. 

 
The impact of the extension on the character and appearance of the existing building and 
wider area 
 
The proposed extension is basically a replication of the existing bays of the factory. Although 
it would be prominently sited at the entrance to the wider site, it would be viewed as a 
relatively minor and sympathetic addition. It would also be constructed in matching materials. 
It should be noted that there would remain a grassed and landscaped buffer between the 
factory and neighbouring industrial units (to the north and west) following its construction.   
Therefore, the development would not have an adverse impact on the character or 
appearance of the existing factory or wider area and thus would comply with Policy SW11 of 
the LDP.  
 
Highway safety and car parking 
 
The surrounding roads, main highway serving the industrial estate and the access into the 
site can easily accommodate any increase in traffic from the proposed development. 
Furthermore, given this is an extension to an existing facility and is required for warehousing 
and machinery space, there is adequate parking within the wider site (in the applicant’s 
ownership) to serve the needs of the development. In this respect, the Head of Engineering 
has not raised any highway safety concerns. Therefore, the proposal complies with policy 
SW11 of the LDP. 
 
Ecology 
 
The Ecological Assessment submitted with the application concludes that the site is of low 
ecological value. However, any external lighting should be limited to prevent harm to any 
foraging bats. The lighting can be controlled by a suitably worded condition (2). In line with 
policy EnW1, biodiversity enhancements are also proposed. A wildflower area, which would 
benefit reptiles and invertebrates, would be provided along with a bat and bird box. The 
Council’s Ecologist has raised no objection subject to the works being carried out in 
accordance with the above enhancements and the conclusion and recommendations of the 
Ecological Assessment (this can be controlled by means of recommended conditions 2, 3 
and 4). As such the proposal complies with Policies EnW1 and EnW2 of the LDP 
 
Other considerations 
 
The proposal, by virtue of its location, would have no impact on the amenity of any 
surrounding residents/occupiers. Although the planning application form suggests no 
additional staff will be employed, as a result of the proposed development, the extension 

Page 43



would provide essential internal space to aid the efficient operation, and ongoing success, of 
the business.   
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been taken into consideration 
when determining this application. In reaching the following recommendation, the ways of 
working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been considered and thus the proposal is 
in accordance with the sustainable development principle through its contribution towards 
one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as required by section 8 of 
the WBFG Act. 
 
For the above reasons, the proposed development is acceptable and complies with the 
relevant LDP Policies. Accordingly, the following recommendation is made: 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS 
 
 
 
 
 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans 

and documents: 
  
 - Drawing No. 3115 P 02a - Proposed Site Layout 
 - Drawing No. 3115 P 05a - Proposed GF Layout 
 - Drawing No. 3115 P 06b - Proposed FF Layout 
 - Drawing No. 3115 P 09c - Proposed Elevations 
 - Drawing No. 3115 P 12 - Ecology Proposal 
  
 - BE Ecological Ltd Ecological Assessment December 2021 Issue 1, VA  
  
 Reason - To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define the scope 

of the permission. 
 
 3. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping 

(Drawing No. 3115 P 12 - Ecology Proposal) shall be carried out in the first planting 
and seeding seasons following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period 
of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
others of similar size and species. 

  

Page 44



 Reason - In the interests of amenity and biodiversity and to accord with Policies SW11 
and EnW1 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 4. The bird and bat boxes, as highlighted on Drawing No. 3115 P 12 - Ecology Proposal, 

shall be installed prior to the extension, hereby permitted, being brought into use. 
  
 Reason - In the interest of biodiversity and to accord with Policy EnW1 of the Merthyr 

Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



FOR INFORMATION 

 

 

DELEGATED DECISION REPORT LIST:  1st September 2021 – 31st December 2021 

 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0052 Plot 4A 
Elwyn Drive 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of detached dwelling house 
(Renew Permission P/12/0207) 

Full Approval 03/11/2021 

P/20/0064 Guest Memorial 
Bowls Club 
Garden Street 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Construct two single storey buildings to 
provide a storage area and changing 
rooms 

Full Approval 28/09/2021 

P/20/0238 4 Newland Park 
Penyard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0TJ 
 

Construct rear extension. Construct side 
extension to accommodate indoor 
swimming pool. Extension of garden 
curtilage to include the erection of new 
boundary wall/fence and new 
outbuilding (gym) 
 

Full Approval 09/12/2021 

P/20/0262 Merthyr Motor 
Auctions 
Pant Road 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3SH 
 

Removal of condition H attached to 
appeal decisions APP6410/C/95/508749 
and APP6410/C/95/508750, which 
currently restricts the use of the 
floodlighting (Removal of Condition 
Application) 

Full Approval 03/09/2021 

P/20/0289 2 Somerset Lane 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2PA 
 

Demolish existing bungalow and 
construct new five bedroom dwelling 
with garage 

Full Approval 12/11/2021 

DATE WRITTEN 28th January 2022 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Various 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 9th February 2022 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/20/0305 Ael Y Bryn North  
Walter Street 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3AP 
 

Proposed dwelling (Outline with some 
matters reserved) 

Refusal 29/11/2021 

P/21/0012 Land south of 7 
Riverside Close 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4RN 
 

Change of use of land to form part of the 
curtilage of 7 Riverside Close, for the 
storage of touring caravan and retention 
of shed, container and garage for 
household and wood storage 

Full Approval 13/12/2021 

P/21/0020 Land at Ty Llwyd 
Farm 
Ty Llwyd Parc 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
 

Application to extend the time for the 
submission of reserved matters and the 
commencement of works in respect of 
planning permission P/16/0353 

Outline Approval 25/10/2021 

P/21/0090 Melita House 
Gwaelodygarth 
Close 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Construct detached two storey dwelling Full Approval 08/10/2021 

P/21/0129 4 Quay Row 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1YP 
 

Replace front windows and internal 
alterations 

Listed Building 
Approval 

03/09/2021 

P/21/0140 24 Church Street 
Penydarren 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9HS 

Two storey rear extension with external 
alterations, creation of rear vehicular 
access and raised hard standing with 
associated reprofiling and retaining 
works 
 

Full Approval 06/09/2021 

P/21/0148 Greenfield School  
Duffryn Road 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4BJ 
 

Detached classroom building (with air 
conditioning units) and enclosed 
playground 

Full Approval 17/11/2021 

Page 48



 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/21/0187 32 High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8DE 

Conversion of the first and second floor 
to provide three one bedroom self 
contained flats with part refurbishment 
of ground floor to provide an A3 
takeaway use.  Proposal to include 
associated external works 
 

Full Approval 02/11/2021 

P/21/0193 32 Trevithick 
Gardens 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0RP 
 

Two storey rear extension, single storey 
rear extension and first floor side 
extension 

Full Approval 13/09/2021 

P/21/0212 33 Trevithick 
Gardens 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0RP 
 

First floor extension Full Approval 13/09/2021 

P/21/0216 5 Melin Caiach  
Mill Street 
Treharris 
CF46 5RU 
 

Replace car port with double garage, 
single storey side and rear extensions 
and front porch 

Full Approval 03/09/2021 

P/21/0220 The Wern  
Cae'r Wern 
Ynysfach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1AE 
 

New access road and parking with 
associated re-profiling of ground 

Full Approval 16/09/2021 

P/21/0224 13 Shirley Drive 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1SE 
 

Demolish conservatory and construct a 
new single storey kitchen and living room 
extension 

Full Approval 27/09/2021 

P/21/0225 Aldi Foodstore Ltd 
and Simon Jones 
Cars 
Plymouth Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0TP 
 

Proposed extension to Aldi Stores, 
demolition of the existing car sales 
building, boundary wall, and forecourt to 
facilitate extension, re-configuration of 
the existing car park and other external 
works 

Full Approval 30/11/2021 

P/21/0239 Citizens Advice 
Building  
Post Office Lane 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8BE 

Erect 3 air conditioning units to the west 
and northern elevations 

Full Approval 02/09/2021 

Page 49



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/21/0249 1 Pentwyn Villas 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8PJ 
 

Retention of extensions as erected and 
garage (with alterations), re profiling of 
land and erection of boundary fencing 

Full Approval 27/09/2021 

P/21/0250 18 The Park 
Treharris 
CF46 5RH 
 

Two storey rear extension with steps 
leading to rear garden 

Full Approval 17/09/2021 

P/21/0251 Holly Lodge 
23 The Hollies 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5PJ 
 

Creation of hardstanding for two 
vehicles, increase height of side 
boundary wall and other associated 
works 

Full Approval 06/09/2021 

P/21/0261 Land south of Unit 
7 Efi Industrial 
Estate 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8RB 
 

Provision of dwelling (live/work) 
together with parking, landscaping and 
ecological enhancements 

Refusal 16/11/2021 

P/21/0267 12 Nightingale 
Street 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1DX 
 

Replacement windows and door to front 
elevation 

Refusal (Listed 
Buildings) 

07/09/2021 

P/21/0268 13 Mackintosh 
Terrace 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6DA 
 

Replacement garage, new boundary 
walls and changes to level of rear garden.  
Change of use of grass verge to garden 

Full Approval 27/09/2021 

P/21/0271 Plot 7 Upper 
Colliers Row 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Construct detached dwelling Full Approval 13/10/2021 

P/21/0274 29 Upper Row 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3NU 
 

Single storey rear extension Full Approval 06/09/2021 

P/21/0275 16 Highfield Rise 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF46 6EQ 
 

Extension of existing raised patio area 
and siting of gazebo 

Full Approval 20/09/2021 

Page 50



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/21/0276 Plot 2 Upper 
Colliers Row 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Construct detached dwelling Full Approval 13/10/2021 

P/21/0277 56 - 57 Glebeland 
Street and 119 
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AT 
 

Change of use to restaurant at ground 
floor to include external alterations 

Full Approval 09/11/2021 

P/21/0278 Plot 1 Upper 
Colliers Row 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Construct detached dwelling and 
detached garage 

Full Approval 14/10/2021 

P/21/0279 73 Twynyrodyn 
Road 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0PT 
 

Erection of first floor rear extension Full Approval 01/09/2021 

P/21/0280 7 Christopher 
Terrace 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0UE 
 

Erection of single storey rear extension Full Approval 01/09/2021 

P/21/0286 2 Plymouth 
Gardens 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4BA 
 

Erect two storey side extension Full Approval 07/09/2021 

P/21/0288 Cyfarthfa Dental 
Surgery  
Rookwood House 
Gwaelodygarth 
Lane 
Gwaelodygarth 
Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8EX 
 

Variation of Condition 3 of Planning 
Permission P/20/0165 to allow the 
internal layout to be amended 

Removal or 
Variation of 
Condition - App 

07/09/2021 

Page 51



 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/21/0291 Pontygwaith Farm 
Pontygwaith 
Treharris 
CF46 5PD 
 

Conversion of stable building to 
bedrooms 

Full Approval 24/11/2021 

P/21/0293 The Marshalls  
Lewis Square 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1YL 
 

Retention of replacement of storage unit Full Approval 17/12/2021 

P/21/0294 6 Commercial 
Street 
Bedlinog 
Treharris 
CF46 6RE 
 

Demolition of existing single storey rear 
extension and construction of three 
storey extension. Retention of garage 
and stable 

Full Approval 20/09/2021 

P/21/0296 17 Alder Grove 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9SF 
 

Single storey rear extension to provide 
disabled facilities 

Full Approval 22/09/2021 

P/21/0297 8 The Birchway 
Trefechan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2HA 
 

Single storey rear extension to provide 
disabled facilities 

Full Approval 30/09/2021 

P/21/0298 37 The Hawthorns 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2EJ 
 

Erection of rear first floor extension Full Approval 15/09/2021 

P/21/0300 21 Ash Crescent 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9PG 
 

Extension to existing garden outbuilding 
to provide a gym 

Full Approval 20/09/2021 

P/21/0301 Orchard House 
Gwernllwyn Road 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3NA 
 

Creation of new vehicle and pedestrian 
access off highway, boundary walls and 
associated change of use of parcel of 
land to form part of residential unit 

Full Approval 11/10/2021 

Page 52



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/21/0302 123 Plasydarren 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1RE 
 

Conversion of existing garage into 
holiday accommodation unit with 
associated external alterations 

Full Approval 27/09/2021 

P/21/0303 19 Lower High 
Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8EB 
 

Change of use from retail to non 
residential educational use 

Full Approval 11/10/2021 

P/21/0306 60 The Oaks 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5HQ 
 

Erection of single storey rear extension Full Approval 14/10/2021 

P/21/0309 Land rear of 3 
Summerhill Place 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Proposed store and associated change of 
use of land 

Full Approval 18/10/2021 

P/21/0310 Lyndhurst  
23 Hanover Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8SW 
 

Rear extension to ground and first floors 
above existing lower ground floor 
annexe and repositioning of steps off 
rear platform adjacent to rear elevation 

Full Approval 21/12/2021 

P/21/0311 6 Maestaf Street 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4BZ 
 

Erect rear single story extension Full Approval 18/10/2021 

P/21/0312 Tregaron  
15 Brecon Rise 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2BW 
 

Erect single storey rear extension Full Approval 18/10/2021 

P/21/0313 Brecon Road 
Infant School 
Norman Terrace 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8SD 
 

New canopy and new boundary fencing 
and gates 

Full Approval 15/11/2021 

P/21/0314 23 Cwm Cottages 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1RS 
 

Two storey rear extension and 
associated retaining works 

Full Approval 26/10/2021 

Page 53



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/21/0315 26 Calluna Close 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3HF 
 

Convert existing garage and construct 
new detached garage 

Full Approval 25/10/2021 

P/21/0316 2 Jenkins Place  
Queens Road 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0ND 
 

Erect wall around perimeter of flat roof 
garage to provide terrace 

Full Approval 15/12/2021 

P/21/0317 30 Victoria Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8BW 
 

Conversion of first and second floors to 
provide 2 flats, new shop front and 
associated external works to building 

Full Approval 15/12/2021 

P/21/0318 Laymark Yard 
(Former Unigate 
Dairies),  
Willow Works,  
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil  
 

Removal of conditions 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 of 
planning permission P/20/0266 

Removal or 
Variation of 
Condition - App 

26/10/2021 

P/21/0319 10 Model Cottages 
Baden Terrace 
Penyard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0HS 
 

Single storey rear extension Full Approval 20/10/2021 

P/21/0323 17 Blaenau'r Cwm 
Penyard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0JD 
 

Timber framed rear extension Full Approval 26/10/2021 

P/21/0324 Well Pharmacy 
Fox Street 
Treharris 
CF46 5HE 
 

Display of 3 internally illuminated signs 
and display of one digitally printed vinyl 
graphic 

Advertisement 
Approval 

28/10/2021 

P/21/0326 35 Park Place 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4ET 
 

First floor rear extension Full Approval 20/10/2021 

P/21/0329 11 Shirley Drive 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1SE 
 
 

Non material amendment to planning 
permission P/20/0236 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

27/09/2021 

Page 54



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/21/0331 St David's Parish 
Church 
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AF 
 

Reduce height of Beech tree, Lawson 
Cypress and Yew tree.  Fell Weeping 
Ash and Cherry Blossom and remove 
unions of other Cherry Blossom trees 

Tree Works 
Approval 

20/10/2021 

P/21/0335 7 Mardy Close 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0YH 
 

Non material amendment to planning 
permission P/20/0100 to replace the 
proposed window and door with sliding 
glass doors 
 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

07/10/2021 

P/21/0337 52 Rhydfach 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4DJ 
 

Change of use of grass verge to garden 
area 

Full Approval 08/12/2021 

P/21/0339 17 - 32 MTCBC 
Gurnos Workshops 
Pen-y-dre 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Refurbishment of neighbourhood 
learning centre comprising the rendering 
of three buildngs, installation of new 
windows and doors, the creation of 5 
flats, wardens accommodation in 
building 2, installation of solar panels 
and associated landscaping works 
 

Full Approval 25/11/2021 

P/21/0342 Former St Tydfils 
Hospital 
Upper Thomas 
Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0SJ 
 

Variation of Conditions 15 (piling) and 20 
(retaining walls) of planning permission 
P/20/0199 to enable details to be 
submitted prior to works commencing on 
the construction of the dwellings 

Removal or 
Variation of 
Condition - App 

27/10/2021 

P/21/0344 2 Bargoed Terrace 
Treharris 
CF46 5RB 

Change of use from betting office (A2 
Use) to fish and chip takeaway (A3 Use) 
to include the installation of flue 
 

Full Approval 10/12/2021 

P/21/0345 19 Six Bells Estate 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1TU 
 

Erect front and rear dormers to provide 3 
bedrooms and bathroom in roof space 

Full Approval 05/11/2021 

P/21/0346 26 Chestnut Way 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9SB 
 

Erection of single storey rear extension 
to provide disabled facilities 

Full Approval 11/11/2021 

Page 55



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/21/0350 12 Nightingale 
Street 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1DX 
 

Replace front windows and door Listed Building 
Approval 

20/12/2021 

P/21/0351 35 Nantycoed 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4HF 
 

Change of use from 3 bedroom dwelling 
to a 4 bedroom house of multiple 
occupation (C4 Use Class) 

Full Approval 18/11/2021 

P/21/0352 Dowlais Primary 
School  
High Street 
Caeharris 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3HB 
 

Proposed single storey building to 
accommodate day care facilities with 
associated new footpath, landscaping 
and play area 

Full Approval 25/11/2021 

P/21/0353 4 Gladstone 
Terrace  
Plymouth Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0UU 
 

Single storey extension to rear and first 
floor infill extension 

Full Approval 18/11/2021 

P/21/0354 Trelewis 
Community Centre 
Nant Gwyn 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
 

Erection of canopy Full Approval 18/11/2021 

P/21/0355 9 The Grove 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4QA 
 

Two storey and single storey rear 
extensions, front bay window and 
canopy and other external alterations 

Full Approval 18/11/2021 

P/21/0357 Frelot House 
Maen Gilfach 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6BG 
 

Construct garage to the side of the 
property 

Full Approval 30/11/2021 

P/21/0359 1 Park View 
Houses  
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1SY 

Erection of dwelling (outline with all 
matters reserved) 

Outline Approval 20/12/2021 

Page 56



 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/21/0361 35A & 35B Cross 
King Street 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2AG 
 

Change of use of beauty salon to form 
part of existing residential flat 

Full Approval 29/11/2021 

P/21/0363 Treharris Nursery 
School  
Perrott Street 
Treharris 
CF46 5ER 
 

Erect new canopy and install new front 
door with roller shutter 

Full Approval 29/11/2021 

P/21/0366 Land between 26 
Gelligaer Road and 
The Farm Shop 
Gelligaer Road 
Trelewis 
 

Erection of 4 detached dwellings with 
associated parking 

Full Approval 17/12/2021 

P/21/0367 31 River Avenue 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF46 6EF 
 

Change of use from domestic garage to 
part time hair salon 

Refusal 17/12/2021 

P/21/0369 43 Penybryn View 
Incline Top 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0GB 
 

Conversion of garage to habitable room Full Approval 17/11/2021 

P/21/0370 Unit 2 Lower High 
Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8EB 
 

Change of use of ground floor from retail 
to a tanning salon (sui generis use) 

Full Approval 29/11/2021 

P/21/0371 Land off Aneurin 
Crescent and 
Wheatley Place 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Construct three bungalows (alternative 
layout to that approved under 
application (P/18/0350) 

Full Approval 21/12/2021 

P/21/0376 Mountain Ash Inn 
Gilfach-cynon 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

 

Change of use of ground floor from 
public house to a beauty salon (Sui 
Generis Use) 

Full Approval 09/12/2021 

Page 57



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/21/0377 Dowlais 
Community Centre  
Station Road 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3LW 
 

Siting of two timber sheds (one for a 
charity bookshop and the other for use 
by the Youth and Play Project) 

Full Approval 02/12/2021 

P/21/0380 Gurnos 
Community Centre  
Spruce Tree Grove 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9AU 
 

Erection of 2 No. canopies Full Approval 06/12/2021 

P/21/0383 33 The Hafod 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2EB 
 

Conversion of existing garage into a 
bedroom and associated external 
alterations 

Certificate of Law 
Granted 

23/11/2021 

P/21/0384 Simbec Orion  
Merthyr Tydfil 
Industrial Park 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4DR 
 

Erection of fencing to create new 
enclosure and siting of tables and chairs 

Full Approval 13/12/2021 

P/21/0385 Land to rear of 65  
Clare Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of block of 3 garages Full Approval 20/12/2021 

P/21/0386 14 High Street 
Caeharris 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3HB 
 

Conversion of first floor function room 
into 3 holiday lets.  Erection of rear 
porch/canopy 

Full Approval 10/12/2021 

P/21/0387 Unit 6-7  
Cyfarthfa 
Industrial Estate 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8PE 
 

Change of use of building to a gymnastics 
facility 

Full Approval 20/12/2021 

Page 58



 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/21/0391 10 Hylton Terrace 
Bedlinog 
CF46 6RG 
 

Two storey rear extension and single 
storey rear extension 

Full Approval 15/12/2021 

P/21/0394 62 Clare Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0YL 
 

Erection of single storey rear extension Full Approval 22/12/2021 

P/21/0403 10 Gelligaer Road 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6DN 
 

Non-material amendment  to planning 
permission P/21/0177 to alter the 
material finishes on the side elevation of 
the extension and alter the roof lights to 
a rear lantern 
 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

15/12/2021 

P/21/0410 2 Morlais Buildings 
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8UL 
 

Non-material amendment to planning 
permission P/20/0037 to include the 
erection of a metal gate at the entrance 
alcove into the premises 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

14/12/2021 

P/21/0411 74 Pontmorlais 
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8UN 
 

Non-material amendment to planning 
permission P/19/0331 to include the 
erection of a metal gate at the entrance 
alcove into the premises 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

14/12/2021 

P/21/0417 8 Pontmorlais  
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8UB 

Non-material amendment to planning 
permission P/19/0009 to alter the 
roofing material to the stairwell, extend 
the external cladding to the stairwell 
down to the ground level and insert a 
door 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

22/12/2021 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 P/21/0244 - 3 Chestnut Way, Gurnos, Merthyr Tydfil
	4 P/21/0144 - 78 Heol Rhyd-y-Bedd, Pant, Merthyr Tydfil
	5 P/21/0416 - Land at Springfield Rise, Treharris, Merthyr Tydfil
	6 P/21/0424 - Stephens & George Ltd, Goat Mill Road, Dowlais, Merthyr Tydfil
	7 Delegated Decision Report

